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The appellant, death row inmate Robert Glen Coe, challenges on both legal

and factual grounds the trial court’s order of February 2, 2000, finding that he is

presently competent to be executed under Ford v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 399, 106 S.

Ct. 2595, 91 L. Ed.2d 335 (1986) and Van Tran v. State, 6 S.W.3d 257 (Tenn.

1999).1  We have carefully reviewed de novo each of the legal claims raised by the

appellant and conclude that none have merit.  In addition, we have thoroughly

reviewed the record in this appeal and conclude that the evidence fully supports and

does not preponderate against the trial court’s finding that the appellant is presently

competent to be executed under the standard set forth in Van Tran.  In Van Tran,

we explained that “under Tennessee law a prisoner is not competent to be executed

if the prisoner lacks the mental capacity to understand the fact of the impending

execution and the reason for it.”  6 S.W.3d at 266.  Accordingly, we affirm the

decision of the trial court.

I.

BACKGROUND

Procedural History

A brief summary of the procedural background of this case is necessary to

place the issues in context.  In 1981, the appellant was convicted in the Criminal

Court of Shelby County of the aggravated rape, aggravated kidnapping, and first-

degree murder of an eight-year-old girl, Cary Ann Medlin.2  For the conviction of first-

degree murder, the appellant received a death sentence, and he was sentenced to
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life imprisonment on each of the other convictions.  On direct appeal, this Court

affirmed the appellant’s convictions and sentences.  See State v. Coe, 655 S.W.2d

903 (Tenn. 1983).  The United States Supreme Court denied the appellant’s petition

for writ of certiorari.   See  Coe v. Tennessee, 464 U.S. 1063, 104 S. Ct. 745, 79 L.

Ed.2d 203 (1984).  Thereafter, the appellant filed three separate petitions in state

court seeking post-conviction relief; however, relief was denied by the state courts in

each instance.  In 1987, the appellant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the

United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee.  Following an

evidentiary hearing, in December of 1996, federal district court Judge John T. Nixon

set aside the appellant‘s convictions and sentences upon finding that several federal

constitutional errors had occurred during the appellant’s original trial in 1981.  In

November of 1998, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit reversed

the decision of the district court insofar as it had granted the appellant habeas corpus

relief, and thereby effectively reinstated the appellant’s convictions and sentences,

see Coe v. Bell, 161 F.3d 320 (6th Cir. 1998); and the United States Supreme Court

denied the appellant’s petition for a writ of certiorari.  See Coe v. Bell, __ U.S. __, 120

S. Ct. 110, 145 L. Ed.2d 93, reh’g denied __ U.S.__,120 S. Ct. 567, 145 L. Ed.2d 442

(1999).  

After the United States Supreme Court declined to review the case, the State

of Tennessee filed a motion in this Court requesting that an execution date be set for

the appellant.  In response, the appellant asserted his present incompetence to be

executed.  On December 15, 1999, this Court entered an order finding that the
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appellant had exhausted the standard three-tier appeals process3 and, in light of that

finding, set the appellant’s execution date as March 23, 2000.  We also found that the

appellant’s claim of present incompetence was ripe for determination in light of the

imminent execution date and remanded that issue to the Shelby County Criminal

Court where the appellant was originally tried and sentenced.  We directed that the

issue be determined in accordance with the procedures and standard adopted by this

Court in Van Tran, 6 S.W.3d. 257.  See Coe v. State, ___ S.W.3d ___ (Tenn.1999).

As previously stated in Van Tran, we held that “under Tennessee law a prisoner is

not competent to be executed if the prisoner lacks the mental capacity to understand

the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.”  6 S.W.3d at 266.

The appellant filed a petition in the trial court challenging his competency to

be executed and attached to the petition the affidavit of Dr. William Davis Kenner, III,

a licensed Tennessee physician who practices psychiatry.  In his affidavit, Dr. Kenner

diagnosed the appellant as schizophrenic and opined that the appellant was not

competent to be executed under Van Tran.  The State filed a response to the

petition, contending that Dr. Kenner’s affidavit was insufficient to show that the

appellant’s competency was genuinely in issue and arguing that the appellant had

failed to satisfy the threshold showing required by Van Tran.  See 6 S.W.3d at 268.

In an order entered January 3, 2000, the trial court, Judge John P. Colton, Jr.,  found

that the appellant had satisfied the required threshold showing that his competency

to be executed was genuinely in issue, appointed four mental health professionals,

two for each side, to evaluate the appellant, and directed that the reports of the
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mental health professionals be filed by January 13, 2000.  After the reports were

filed, an evidentiary hearing to determine the appellant’s competency was held,

beginning on January 24 and concluding on January 28, 2000.  The competency

hearing is accurately described in great detail in the trial court’s order of February 2,

2000, which is attached hereto as an appendix.  However, the proceedings are

summarized hereafter.  

Competency Hearing

Testifying first for the appellant was  Dr. James Ray Merikangas, M.D., one of

the two mental health professionals appointed by the trial court at the request of the

appellant pursuant to Van Tran.  Dr. Merikangas is licensed as a physician in the

state of Connecticut and board certified in both psychiatry and neurology. He lectures

in psychiatry at the Yale University School of Medicine and practices neuropsychiatry

in Connecticut.  He was accepted by the trial court as an expert witness in the fields

of neurology, neuropsychiatry, and psychiatry.

On direct examination, Dr. Merikangas opined that the appellant has

congenital brain damage, maldevelopment, and probably some acquired brain

damage.  Dr. Merikangas derived these opinions from his review of the appellant’s

mental health records, a physical examination of the appellant, a magnetic resonance

imaging (MRI) test which revealed abnormalities in the structure of the appellant’s

brain, and a positron emission tomogram (PET) scan of the appellant’s brain.

Dr. Merikangas diagnosed the appellant as a chronic paranoid schizophrenic.

Dr. Merikangas based this diagnosis upon his oral interview with the appellant in
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which he discovered that the appellant has delusions, hallucinations, peculiarities of

thinking, and disorders of movement that are symptomatic of schizophrenia.  As

specific examples of the appellant’s conduct which supported his diagnosis of

schizophrenia, Dr. Merikangas cited the appellant’s decision to stay in his cell rather

than exercise with other inmates,  the appellant’s past “wild” conduct, the appellant’s

nicotine addiction, the appellant’s tendency to drink large amounts of coffee, and the

appellant’s pariphilia, i.e.,  tendency to masturbate in public.  Dr. Merikangas rejected

the possibility that the appellant was malingering mental illness, and described as

“junk science” the testing upon which the State’s mental health professionals had

based their conclusions that the appellant was malingering.

  When questioned as to whether the appellant was competent to be executed

in accordance with the standard adopted in Van Tran, Dr. Merikangas admitted that

even though the appellant claims he is innocent and that he is being executed to

conceal the identity of the real killer, the appellant is “aware” that he is going to be

executed and that he was sentenced to die for the murder of a young girl.  However,

Dr. Merikangas attempted to draw a distinction between “awareness” and

“understanding” and opined that the appellant’s beliefs that he will be reincarnated

after his execution and return to earth, beliefs which apparently are similar to the

those held by writer/philosopher Edgar Cayce, demonstrate that the appellant does

not fully “understand” the consequences of death and that he is not competent to be

executed.  Dr. Merikangas further opined that the appellant will become even less

competent than he is at present as the time of his execution draws near.

On cross-examination, Dr. Merikangas admitted that his personal contact with
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the appellant consisted of a single visit for a total of ninety minutes during which time

he performed both a physical examination of the appellant and conducted an oral

clinical interview.  With regard to his statements on direct examination that the tests

administered by the State’s experts were not valid to determine malingering, Dr.

Merikangas conceded that Dr. Richard Rogers, one of the foremost experts in the

United States on malingering, considers the tests administered by the State’s experts

to be valid methods for determining malingering.  Dr. Merikangas stated that his

conclusion that the appellant was incompetent was based upon the fact that the

appellant is a paranoid schizophrenic, even though he had testified “you can be

schizophrenic and be competent, or you can be schizophrenic and be incompetent.”

 However, Dr. Merikangas professed agreement with the reports of five other mental

health experts that the appellant realizes he was sentenced to death for the murder

of a young girl.

Testifying next on behalf of the appellant was Dr. William Davis Kenner, III.

Dr. Kenner is licensed to practice medicine in Tennessee, employed on the clinical

faculty at Vanderbilt University Medical School, and has a private practice of general

psychiatry.  Dr. Kenner was accepted by the trial court to testify as an expert in the

field of psychiatry in this case. 

Dr. Kenner had personally interviewed the appellant on four different

occasions, December 22, 1999, and January 10, 11, and 12, 2000.  On his first visit,

Dr. Kenner learned that the appellant sometimes “loses time.”  As a result of this

interview, Dr. Kenner diagnosed the appellant with schizophrenia and concluded he

was not competent.  Dr. Kenner gave a sworn affidavit summarizing his opinion which
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the appellant relied upon in making his initial threshold showing of incompetency.  Dr.

Kenner was later appointed pursuant to Van Tran and conducted a second interview.

After this interview, Dr. Kenner was of the opinion that the appellant was competent

because he was no longer exhibiting psychotic symptoms. However, when Dr.

Kenner arrived for the third interview, the appellant did not remember the previous

night’s visit.  In addition to this memory loss, the appellant gave a history of his

childhood  wholly inconsistent with the history he had previously given.  When Dr.

Kenner questioned him about the death penalty, the appellant became agitated and

asked to be returned to his cell.  As he left the interview, the appellant indicated that

he was going to call his attorney, Henry Martin,4 to determine if Dr. Kenner were

telling him the truth about the interview the previous night.  As a result of this

interview, Dr. Kenner began to suspect that the appellant was suffering from

dissociative identity disorder (“DID”), previously called multiple personality disorder.

When Dr. Kenner returned the next day for his fourth and final interview, the

appellant produced a letter from another prisoner threatening the appellant with

bodily harm if he attempted to obtain a stay of his execution by claiming

incompetency.  The appellant told Dr. Kenner that he had received the letter the

previous evening before Dr. Kenner had arrived.  Dr. Kenner testified that the stress

caused by the threatening letter had produced the period of separate identity he had

observed the previous night. In addition to DID, Dr. Kenner also diagnosed the

appellant as suffering from generalized anxiety disorder, schizoaffective disorder

(bipolar type), poly-substance abuse, learning disorder, reading disorder, and
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schizoid personality disorder with antisocial features.  Dr. Kenner did not agree that

the appellant was malingering, as the State’s mental health professionals had

concluded, and further opined that the tests upon which the conclusion of the State’s

experts was based were not effective tools to test malingering in death row inmates.

When questioned about his diagnosis and the effect DID might have on the

appellant’s competency, Dr. Kenner explained that the appellant’s condition vacillates

depending on stress levels so that, on a good day, the appellant is competent, but

on a bad day, when his stress level is high and he is in a dissociated state, the

appellant would not be competent to be executed.  Dr. Kenner opined, to a

reasonable degree of medical certainty, that as the execution date approaches, the

stress resulting from the impending execution will cause the appellant to dissociate

and will render him incompetent to be executed.

On cross-examination, Dr. Kenner admitted that he considers the appellant to

be a manipulative person and that he felt obliged to advise Dr. Merikangas of the

appellant’s manipulative tendencies.  Dr. Kenner also admitted that the appellant had

lied to numerous treating mental health professionals in the past and had boasted

that he [appellant] could manipulate mental health experts to believe anything he

wanted them to believe.  However, Dr. Kenner maintained that the confusion and loss

of memory he had observed in the appellant was genuine.  Dr. Kenner explained that

a person suffering from DID has both a primary and a secondary identity.  The

secondary identity is manifested when the primary identity is under stress, but the

secondary identity, according to Dr. Kenner, has “no awareness of the primary

identity, any of the primary identity’s past history, why he is on death row, what is

about to happen to him, anything like that.”  As the trial court noted, Dr. Kenner did
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not explain how the appellant’s “secondary identity” was aware of the names of the

attorneys representing his “primary identity” as well as the legal claims his “primary

identity” had pending in federal court.  Finally, Dr. Kenner conceded that on his fourth

and final visit the appellant was competent to be executed under the standard

adopted in Van Tran, although Dr. Kenner opined that the appellant will likely

dissociate and become incompetent in the future. At the conclusion of Dr. Kenner’s

testimony, the appellant rested his “case-in-chief.”

As its first expert witness, the State called Dr. Daryl Bruce Matthews, M.D.,

Ph.D., one of the two mental health professionals appointed by the trial court in

accordance with Van Tran.  Dr. Matthews is licensed to practice medicine in Hawaii

and Arkansas, board certified in psychiatry and forensic psychiatry, and a clinical

professor of psychiatry at Hawaii School of Medicine.  He was accepted by the trial

court as an expert witness in the field of forensic psychiatry.

Dr. Matthews spent almost five hours conducting a psychiatric evaluation of

the appellant.  He obtained a detailed psychiatric history, which included inquiries

about many different life areas, conducted a mental status examination, which

included an assessment of the appellant’s current mental functioning, and

questioned the appellant extensively regarding his knowledge of his impending

execution and the reason for it.  During this evaluation, the appellant told Dr.

Matthews that he remains in his cell and chooses not to take exercise with the other

inmates because he fears the other inmates have contempt for the offense

committed by the appellant.  When questioned about his understanding of death, the

appellant told Dr. Matthews that he knows the difference between life and death and
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that he believes he has a soul and that his soul will go somewhere after death.  The

appellant also expressed an interest in donating his organs after his death,

specifically his eyes.  The appellant professed a belief in reincarnation and said that

his beliefs are consistent with those of Edgar Cayce, although he did not “get” his

beliefs from Cayce.  Dr. Matthews explained that Cayce is a famous American

prophet who died in the 1940s after writing scores of books and selling millions of

copies of his books.  When questioned about his execution, the appellant said that

he believes he will be executed, and he told Dr. Matthews that he was given a paper

and asked to select a method of execution and that he had chosen the “needle.” 

The appellant said that his lawyers became angry with him when they learned he had

chosen a method of execution because they [his lawyers] had told him not to sign any

papers.  Referring to his lawyers’ instructions, the appellant said that he was a grown

man and could sign anything he wanted.  With regard to his competency hearing, the

appellant indicated that he understood a hearing was going to be held, but he did not

wish to attend.  When questioned about the effect of a finding of incompetence, the

appellant said, “they give you drugs to make you well and then they kill you.”  

Dr. Matthews testified that the appellant was aware that he had been

convicted of killing a young girl, but that the appellant both minimized the seriousness

of the offense, stating that people get murdered all the time, and professed his

innocence of the crime, stating that the crime was actually committed by a man

named Donald Gant.  As examples of proof of his innocence, the appellant cited claw

marks on Donald Gant’s face and previous arrests of Donald Gant for “messing

around with kids.”  The appellant also told Dr. Matthews that his confession had been

coerced.
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Dr. Matthews diagnosed the appellant as suffering from pariphilia, i.e.,

masturbating in public, poly-substance dependence in a controlled environment,

adjustment disorder with mixed anxiety and depressed mood, nicotine dependance,

malingering, possible neuroleptic-induced Parkinsonism, noncompliance with medical

treatment, antisocial personality disorder, borderline personality disorder, and

schizotypal personality disorder.  Dr. Matthews disagreed with the diagnosis of

schizophrenia, citing both the lack of documented delusional thoughts by the

appellant and the diagnosis of Dr. Herbert Meltzer, one of the foremost experts in the

United States in the area of schizophrenia, who did not find evidence of

schizophrenia in the appellant.  Dr. Matthews also strongly disagreed with the

diagnosis of DID.  Finally, Dr. Matthews opined that the appellant is competent

because he understands that he is going to be executed and the reason why he is

going to be executed in accordance with the standard adopted in Van Tran.

On cross-examination, Dr. Matthews admitted that he had not treated a

schizophrenic patient since 1990 and that he had never treated a patient with DID.

In fact, Dr. Matthews admitted that he was skeptical about and questioned the

existence of DID in general.  Finally, Dr. Matthews admitted that the appellant

possibly could become psychotic in the future as a result of his borderline personality

disorder, substance abuse, or faking.  Dr. Matthews was not questioned on cross-

examination as to the appellant’s present competency to be executed.

The next witness was Dr. Daniel A. Martell, Ph.D., the State’s second mental

health professional appointed by the trial court pursuant to Van Tran.  Dr. Martell is

licensed to practice psychology in New York and California, board certified in forensic
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psychology and neuropsychology, and he was accepted by the trial court as an

expert witness in the field of psychology.  

Dr. Martell had observed, interviewed, and tested the appellant for

approximately nine and one-half hours over two days, January 8 and 9, 2000.  Five

hours of this time was devoted to a forensic psychiatric interview of the appellant.  In

addition, Dr. Martell had reviewed many documents pertaining to the appellant,

including the reports of the mental health professionals participating in the

competency hearing, reports from mental health professionals who had treated the

appellant in the past, records of the appellant’s personal history, and transcripts from

the appellant’s 1996 federal habeas corpus proceeding.

Dr. Martell testified that during his interview, the appellant was oriented to the

world around him, was able to accurately describe his own identity, his location, the

month and year, although he was not sure of the exact day of the month.  Dr. Martell

reported that the appellant expressed his thoughts in a coherent, goal-directed, and

logical manner, although his thought content appeared paranoid at times.  To Dr.

Martell, the appellant denied having visual hallucinations, but professed to experience

both auditory and olfactory hallucinations.  At the time of his evaluation Dr. Martell

found no evidence that the appellant was psychotic although he opined that the

appellant is a manipulative and psychopathic individual.

Dr. Martell concluded that the appellant was malingering mental illness.  He

based his opinion in part upon the results of some of the psychological tests he had

administered.  On cross-examination, the appellant’s counsel attacked the validity of
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the tests Dr. Martell had administered and specifically attempted to show the

questions were irrelevant and absurd when applied to a person on death row.  While

Dr. Martell admitted on cross-examination that some of the questions were not

appropriate for a death row inmate, he maintained that, taken as a whole, the tests

were generally accepted in the field of psychology as valid methods of detecting

malingering.

Dr. Martell opined that the appellant was competent to be executed in

accordance with the standard adopted in Van Tran.  With regard to the appellant’s

capacity to understand the fact of his impending execution, Dr. Martell testified that

the appellant understands that he is going to be executed, that he has already

chosen lethal injection as the method by which he will be executed, and that he has

refused the prison officials’ offer to give him Valium to sedate him prior to his

execution, stating, “I think there might be a God, and I’ve got enough to deal with with

him, without being drunk on Valium.”  With respect to the reason for his impending

execution, the appellant told Dr. Martell that he had been sentenced to death for the

murder of a young girl whose name he could not remember.  The appellant claimed

that he was not guilty of the crime, and, citing several pieces of evidence, he

attributed the crime to another man, Donald Gant.  The appellant expressed

displeasure to Dr. Martell with his lawyers’ efforts to prove him incompetent and said

they should focus on proving his innocence. 

At the conclusion of Dr. Martell’s testimony, the State rested its case, and, in

rebuttal, the appellant called Dr. John Pruett, M.D.  Board certified in psychiatry and

licensed as a psychiatrist in Tennessee, Dr. Pruett had been an attending physician
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at the Riverbend Maximum Security Institution from 1994 to 1997.  During his tenure

at Riverbend, Dr. Pruett had seen the appellant once every two to three months.

While Dr. Pruett testified that DID is a legitimately recognized mental disorder, he

stated that he had only seen one patient with the disorder and that the changes in the

appellant observed by Dr. Kenner could be consistent with DID.  On cross-

examination, Dr. Pruett admitted that he most likely would not diagnose the appellant

with DID.  Dr. Pruett stated that the appellant’s symptoms are consistent with both a

number of mental disorders and with malingering.  Finally, Dr. Pruett did not offer an

opinion as to the appellant’s present mental competency to be executed.

The appellant next called Dr. James Walker, a clinical assistant professor of

neurology at Vanderbilt University School of Medicine.  Dr. Walker is licensed to

practice psychology in Tennessee.  He was accepted by the Court as an expert

witness in the field of forensic neuropsychology.  

Dr. Walker testified that he had examined the appellant on December 23 and

24, 1999.  During his examination, Dr. Walker administered to the appellant almost

exactly the same battery of tests that were given by Dr. Martell.  In addition, Dr.

Walker conducted a two to three hour interview, during which the appellant reported

his own history of drug abuse and recounted the physical and sexual abuse he had

suffered at the hands of his father during his childhood.  Dr. Walker noted that during

this interview, the appellant was alert and oriented to self, year, season, month,

weekday, location and situation, but not date.  Although the appellant was markedly

anxious, Dr. Walker found that the appellant’s speech was fluent and that his speech

content did not reflect delusions or obsessions.  The appellant did not report to Dr.
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Walker any unusual ideas, but, instead, he used every opportunity during the

interview to proclaim his innocence of the crime for which he had been convicted and

to describe how he had been treated unfairly by the criminal justice system.  

Although the results of the psychological tests he had administered to the

appellant were similar to the results obtained by Dr. Martell, Dr. Walker testified that

he did not interpret the test results to suggest malingering.  Dr. Walker explained that

to conclude a patient is malingering, a psychologist must be able to determine that

the patient is both answering the questions falsely and doing so with the conscious

objective of avoiding some harm or gaining some benefit.  Although Dr. Walker

testified that the appellant “was exaggerating rare and unusual symptoms to such an

extent that he invalidated the tests,” Dr. Walker could not detect that the appellant

had any motivation to avoid execution; therefore, Dr. Walker could not conclude that

the appellant met both prongs of the malingering definition. As further evidence that

the appellant was not malingering, Dr. Walker pointed out that the appellant

consistently denied that he had any psychosis and took every opportunity to build

himself up in the eyes of the interviewer.  

Although Dr. Walker stated that he would not diagnose the appellant with DID,

he characterized all the various diagnoses given to the appellant by the other mental

health professionals as reasonable.  Dr. Walker found that the appellant is not

currently psychotic and stated that the appellant’s mental health records dating back

to 1996 include no clear indications of psychotic thinking or behavior, although the

records contain consistent complaints of insomnia, anxiety, and urges to constantly

masturbate.  Dr. Walker stated that the appellant has schizotypal, antisocial, and
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narcissistic personality features and opined that the appellant’s tendency to lie can

best be explained by a diagnosis of pseudologica fantastica, a condition that is

associated with borderline personality disorder but which is not found in

schizophrenics.

Dr. Walker declined to express an opinion as to whether the appellant met the

Van Tran standard of present competency because competency to be executed was

not his area of expertise.  However, on cross-examination Dr. Walker stated that the

appellant is aware that his execution is pending, understands the legal system,

including the role of the judge and the role of his attorneys, remembers his trial and

the legal proceedings since his trial, and can explain most of the issues involved in

his case.  Finally, Dr. Walker testified that the appellant is aware that he was accused

and convicted of a crime and that the death penalty has been imposed for the crime.

Dr. Walker disagreed with Dr. Kenner’s assertion that the appellant’s mental state will

deteriorate as his execution date approaches.  In an effort to test the appellant’s

mental state, Dr. Walker and the appellant had discussed the impending execution

in unpleasant detail, and the appellant had exhibited no mental deterioration as a

result of the discussion.  Although he could not definitively rule it out, Dr. Walker

opined that the approach of the execution date is not likely to produce a psychotic

deterioration.

Although he did not testify at the hearing, the trial court also relied upon the

report of Dr. Herbert Meltzer, which had been submitted to the trial court.  Dr. Meltzer

is a psychiatrist at the Psychiatric Hospital at Vanderbilt who specializes in the study

of schizophrenia.  In forming his diagnosis and opinions, Dr. Meltzer conducted an
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oral interview with the appellant, reviewed the appellant’s medical records from 1975-

1981, communicated with Dr. Walker, and reviewed Dr. Walker’s written report.  Dr.

Meltzer reported that during the interview the appellant exhibited no disorganization

of speech nor any bizarre delusions and that the appellant was able to listen to his

questions and make responsive comments.  Given his level of education and

intelligence, Dr. Meltzer reported that the appellant was remarkably lucid about his

inner feelings and preferences.  In addition, Dr. Meltzer reported that the appellant

does not currently meet the criteria for schizophrenia and instead diagnosed the

appellant as suffering from generalized anxiety disorder, mild dementia of unknown

etiology, compulsive masturbation, and possibly borderline personality disorder.

Finally, Dr. Meltzer opined that the appellant is aware that he is facing imminent

execution for the crime of which he was convicted, that the appellant understands the

nature of the crimes for which he was convicted, although the appellant denies he is

guilty of the crimes, and that he prefers to die rather than to live as he currently lives

because he believes he cannot obtain clemency or a new trial.

In addition to the mental health expert proof summarized above, both the

appellant and the State offered the testimony of lay witnesses.  As the trial court

recognized, none of the lay witnesses offered an opinion as to the appellant’s present

mental competency to be executed.  The lay witnesses testifying on behalf of the

appellant described specific instances, in both the distant and the recent past, when

the appellant behaved in an unusual or bizarre manner.  In contrast, the lay

witnesses testifying on behalf of the State described the appellant as a model

prisoner who behaved normally.  
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Although the appellant did not testify, he was present at the competency

hearing and the trial court was able to observe his conduct.   From the very beginning

of the hearing, the appellant made inappropriate comments to the trial judge and to

other court personnel, and engaged in generally disruptive behavior.  However, on

the third day of the hearing, the day on which the State was scheduled to begin

presenting proof, the appellant entered the courtroom, turned to the gallery, and

directed the following statement to the victim’s mother, “I ain’t doing this to disrespect

you all, but I ain’t staying here no more.  You can either send me back or we’re just

going to have some problems now.”  

True to his word, the appellant began to scream obscene and profane

comments and threats at the judge, judicial staff, the State’s witnesses, the State’s

attorneys, and his own attorneys.  Although interspersed with profanity, the

appellant’s comments were logical, coherent, and responsive to the happenings in

the courtroom.  As the trial judge noted, the appellant was aware of his situation and

of what was going on around him so that he was able to interject his own responses

to questions asked of the witness by counsel before the witnesses were able to

respond.  After the appellant insulted and began spitting on Assistant Attorney

General Glen Pruden, the trial court directed the security officers to place a gag on

the appellant, but the gag proved ineffective.  In fact, the appellant’s disruptive

conduct seemed to grow worse and almost totally impeded presentation of the

State’s proof.  Eventually, the trial court determined that the appellant had waived his

right to be present in the courtroom.  A separate room was prepared with a  closed

circuit television to allow the appellant to view the proceedings. The trial court

directed one of the appellant’s attorneys to accompany him to the room.  Once the
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appellant was removed to the separate viewing room, he made no more outbursts.

The trial court eventually determined that several of the appellant’s comments

were particularly relevant to the competency determination because the comments

illustrated the appellant’s awareness.  For example, speaking to the trial judge, the

appellant stated,  “You better send me back to Riverbend . . . . I didn’t ask to come

here in the first place. . . . You want to know if I’m crazy, you should have asked me.

. . .,” and, “You know goddamn well you’re going to tell them ain’t nothing wrong with

me so what the . . .  you waiting for?”  The appellant also stated, “Old Judge Nixon

is going to fuck your ass up punk.  Everything you say and do is going to get

overturned.  This is a waste of . . . time and money here. . . . You just wanted to be

on TV.”  Again addressing the trial judge the appellant stated,  “You just going to let

that federal judge overrule your . . . ass.  That’s all you’re doing,” and, “Hey, don’t

worry about it.  Judge Nixon is going to overturn anything that punk says.  And he

knows it, too.”  Finally, the appellant stated, “. . . Judge Colton . . . you know the

federal court’s going to over turn your ass . . . . [n]o matter what you rule. . . .”  The

trial court noted that the appellant was referring to Judge John T. Nixon, a judge for

the United States District Court for the Middle District of Tennessee, who, in 1996,

granted the appellant habeas corpus relief, and  who had issued an opinion ten days

prior to the beginning of the appellant’s competency hearing holding that the

appellant could pursue his competency to be executed claim in federal court following

the conclusion of the state court hearing.  The appellant also made reference to the

trial judge who presided over his initial trial in 1981, calling him by name. 

At the conclusion of the competency hearing, the trial court took the case
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under advisement, and issued a comprehensive and detailed order on February 2,

2000, finding that 

[t]hroughout all the testimony given, one fact has been constant; the
Petitioner realizes he is facing execution, and that he knows it is
because he has been convicted of murdering a little girl.  Although he
maintains his innocence, it has been made quite clear to this Court that
Petitioner understands that he was found guilty of the murder and was
sentenced to die.  Furthermore, even in light of the myriad of mental
health diagnoses given Petitioner, the fact that Petitioner knows he is
facing execution for the murder of a young girl was reported by each
and every mental health expert.  In light of this fact, this Court has no
choice but to find that Petitioner is competent to be executed, in
accordance with the standard set forth in Van Tran.

For the reasons that follow, we affirm the decision of the trial court. 

I I .

CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS

The appellant raises numerous challenges to the procedures employed before,

during, and after the hearing, and argues that these procedures deprived him of the

due process which is required by both Ford and Van Tran.  The State in response

says that the appellant’s claims that he was denied due process are without merit.

To properly analyze the specific issues advanced by the appellant, we must

briefly review the purpose and nature of competency proceedings and the procedural

rights which are due prisoners in competency proceedings.  We necessarily begin

this review with Ford, in which the United States Supreme Court held that the “Eighth

Amendment prohibits a State from carrying out a sentence of death upon a prisoner



5Regardless of this Court’s agreement or disagreement with the holding of the United

States Supreme Court in Ford, that a death-sentenced prisoner has an Eighth Amendment right not

to be exe cuted w hile insane , we are b ound b y that holding a nd m ust affor d this priso ner the righ ts to

which he is entitled under the United States Constitution.

6At the time the decision in Ford was rendered, the procedure for determining competency

in Florida was conducted wholly within the executive branch.  When the issue was raised, the

statute req uired that th e Gov ernor ap point a pa nel of three  psychiatrists  to evaluate  the prison er. 

Under the statute, the Governor made the final decision on whether or not the prisoner was

com pete nt to b e exe cute d.  Th e Go vern or ha d a pu blicly an nounced polic y of ex clud ing all

advocacy on the part of the prisoner from the process of determining whether the prisoner was

com petent.  Ford, 477 U.S. at 412-13,106 S. Ct. at 2603-04.  In Ford, the Governor appointed three

psychiatrists who performed their evaluation together in a single thirty minute interview, in the

presence of eight other people, including Ford’s counsel, the State’s attorneys, and correctional

officials.  In accordance with the Governor’s policy, the attorneys were specifically precluded by the

Gove rnor’s ord er from  participating  in the exa mina tion in any adv ersarial m anner.  T he psych iatrists

each filed  a sepa rate two o r three pa ge repo rt with the G overno r.  Although  the psych iatrists

disagre ed on the  precise  diagnos is, they all opined  that Ford  was co mpe tent to be e xecute d. 

Ford’s counsel attempted to submit to the Governor some other written materials, including the

repo rts of  the tw o other ps ychia trists  who  had e xam ined F ord a t grea ter len gth, b ut the  Gov erno r’s

office ref used to  inform  couns el of whe ther the su bmis sion wou ld be con sidered .  Id.   
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who is insane.”  477 U.S. at 409-10, 106 S. Ct. at 2595.5  That portion of Justice

Marshall’s opinion garnered a majority of the Court.  Although a majority of the

justices in Ford agreed that the procedures utilized in Florida were inadequate,6 there

was no majority opinion delineating the procedures the States must apply to resolve

claims of insanity by prisoners facing execution.  Furthermore, the Ford majority

failed to articulate the legal definition of insanity in the execution context.

Justice Marshall, joined by three other justices, set out three primary

procedural features that states must employ: (1) the prisoner must be allowed to

participate in the truth-seeking process; (2) the prisoner must be given an opportunity

to clarify or challenge the state experts’ opinions or methods; and (3) the ultimate

decision must be entrusted to a neutral and impartial officer or body rather than the

governor of the state whom Justice Marshall described as “[t]he commander of the

State’s corps of prosecutors.”  See Ford, 477 U.S. at 410-18, 106 S. Ct. at 2602-06.

Justice Marshall encouraged states to be guided by the following general principles

when developing procedures:



-23-

[T]he lodestar of any effort to devise a procedure must be the
overriding dual imperative of providing redress for those with
substantial claims and of encouraging accuracy in the factfinding
determination.  The stakes are high, and the “evidence” will always be
imprecise.  It is all the more important that the adversary presentation
of relevant information be as unrestricted as possible.  Also essential
is that the manner of selecting and using the experts responsible for
producing that “evidence” be conducive to the formation of neutral,
sound, and professional judgments as to the prisoner’s ability to
comprehend the nature of the penalty.  Fidelity to these principles is the
solemn obligation of a civilized society.

Ford, 477 U.S. at 417, 106 S. Ct. at 2605.    

Justice Powell, who wrote separately in Ford, cast the fifth and decisive vote

in favor of the judgment remanding the competency claim for further consideration.

His opinion reflects the narrowest grounds for the Court’s judgment and is thus

controlling on the state courts and lower federal courts.  See Marks v. United States,

430 U.S. 188, 193, 97 S. Ct. 990, 993, 51 L. Ed.2d 260 (1977), citing Gregg v.

Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 169 n.15,  96 S. Ct. 2909, 49 L. Ed.2d 859 (1976) (opinion

of Stewart, Powell, and Stevens, JJ.).  Justice Powell noted that the Court had left

two important questions unresolved.  With regard to the standard for determining

competency Justice Powell stated, “I would hold that the Eighth Amendment forbids

the execution only of those who are unaware of the punishment they are about to

suffer and why they are to suffer it.”  Ford, 477 U.S. at 422, 106 S. Ct. at 2608.  With

regard to the procedures that states should adopt, Justice Powell concluded that less

formal proceedings comporting with basic fairness and providing the basic

requirements of due process were sufficient.  Ford, 477 U.S. at 425-26, 106 S. Ct.

at 2610.  In so holding, Justice Powell noted that the issue of competency to be

executed does not arise until after the prisoner has been validly convicted of a capital

crime and sentenced to death.  At this point, Justice Powell emphasized that the
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State has “a substantial and legitimate interest” in executing the prisoner as

punishment for his crime, and this substantial and legitimate interest is not called into

question by the prisoner’s claim, because the only question raised by a competency

claim is when the execution may occur, not whether it may occur.  Ford, 477 U.S. at

425, 106 S. Ct. at 2610.  Moreover, Justice Powell pointed out that by the time the

competency to be executed issue is raised, the prisoner has already been judged

competent to stand trial or his competency has not been seriously questioned.

Finally, Justice Powell noted that competency to be executed is not an issue of

historical fact, but calls for a basically subjective judgment which depends

substantially upon expert analysis.  477 U.S. at 426, 106 S. Ct. at 2610.  Given these

considerations, Justice Powell opined that “ordinary adversarial procedures–complete

with live testimony, cross-examination, and oral argument by counsel–are not

necessarily the best means of arriving at sound, consistent judgments” on the issue

of competency to be executed.  Id.  Although Justice Powell did not provide specific

parameters as to the procedures required, he summarized his view as follows:

We need not determine the precise limits that due process imposes in
this area.  In general, however, my view is that a constitutionally
acceptable procedure may be far less formal than a trial.  The State
should provide an impartial officer or board that can receive evidence
and argument from the prisoner’s counsel, including expert psychiatric
evidence that may differ from the State’s own psychiatric examination.
Beyond these basic requirements, the States should have substantial
leeway to determine what process best balances the various interests
at stake.  As long as basic fairness is observed, I would find due
process satisfied . . . .

Ford, 477 U.S. at 427, 106 S. Ct. at 2610 (emphasis added).  

Justice O’Connor, joined by Justice White, dissented from the Court’s finding



7Since Justice O’Connor did not find an Eighth Amendment right, her opinion did not

add ress  or de fine th e standa rd fo r com pete ncy.
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in Ford that the Eighth Amendment forbids execution of the incompetent,7 but found

that the Florida statutes had created a state liberty interest in avoiding execution

while insane which triggered the protections of the Due Process Clause.  However,

Justice O’Connor, concluded that the due process demands in this context are

minimal, and stated that “there are any number of reasons for concluding that this

‘particular situation’ warrants substantial caution before reading the Due Process

Clause to mandate anything like the full panoply of trial-type procedures.”  Ford, 477

U.S. at 429, 106 S. Ct. at 2611-12.  While recognizing that the prisoner’s interest in

avoiding an erroneous determination is great,  Justice O’Connor emphasized that

“once society has validly convicted an individual of a crime and therefore established

its right to punish, the demands of due process are reduced accordingly.”  477 U.S.

at 429, 106 S. Ct. at 2612.   Although being convinced that “the Due Process Clause

imposes few requirements on the States in this context,” Justice O’Connor found that

the Florida procedure was inadequate because it totally denied the prisoner of any

opportunity to be heard.  Id.   While stating that due process does not “invariably

require oral advocacy or even cross-examination,” Justice O’Connor concluded that

“due process at the very least requires that the decisionmaker consider the prisoner’s

written submissions.”  477 U.S. at 430, 106 S. Ct. at 2612.

Dissenting from both the conclusion that the Eighth Amendment prohibits

execution of the insane and from the conclusion that states must adopt procedures

to allow this right to be redressed, Justice Rehnquist and Justice Burger wrote in Ford

that “wholly executive procedures can satisfy due process in the context of a post-
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trial, post-appeal, post-collateral-attack challenge to the State’s effort to carry out a

lawfully imposed sentence.”  Ford, 477 U.S. at 434-35, 106 S. Ct. at 2614.  According

to the dissenters, “[c]reating a constitutional right to a judicial determination of sanity

before the sentence may be carried out, whether through the Eighth Amendment or

the Due Process Clause, needlessly complicates and postpones still further any

finality in this area of the law.”    Ford, 477 U.S. at 435, 106 S. Ct. at 2615.

Since the Supreme Court decided Ford, it has not provided further significant

guidance as to either the standard of incompetency that applies or the procedures

required, including the “threshold” showing needed to trigger a constitutionally

required hearing process.  See, e.g., Rector v. Bryant, 501 U.S. 1239, 1241-42, 111

S. Ct. 2872, 2875, 115 L. Ed.2d 1038 (1991) (Marshall, J., dissenting from denial of

certiorari and disagreeing with the standard of insanity adopted by Justice Powell

which was cited as controlling in Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. 302, 333, 109 S. Ct.

2934, 2954, 106 L. Ed.2d 256 (1989)).  While the exact procedures required by Ford

have not been delineated, all the various opinions in Ford indicate that a prisoner

alleging incompetency to be executed is not entitled to the full panoply of trial rights

to which a criminal defendant who has never been convicted of a crime is entitled.

Against this background, recently in Van Tran, 6 S.W.3d 257, this Court

addressed both the standard for determining competency to be executed and the

procedures which must be afforded to Tennessee prisoners asserting Ford claims.

With respect to the standard, this Court adopted Justice Powell’s definition and held

that “a prisoner is not competent to be executed if the prisoner lacks the mental

capacity to understand the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.”  6
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S.W.3d at 266.  Although the specific procedural protections adopted in Van Tran will

be discussed in greater detail hereafter, we opined that the prisoner will not be

entitled to a hearing unless the prisoner makes a threshold showing that there is a

genuine disputed issue regarding the prisoner’s present competency.  6 S.W.3d at

268.  If the prisoner meets this threshold showing, then a hearing will be held and the

prisoner should be afforded due process, including notice that an evidentiary hearing

will be held, an opportunity to be heard and to present evidence relevant to the issue

of competency at an adversarial proceeding, the right to cross-examine the State’s

witnesses, and the right to be present.  6 S.W.3d at 271.  Under Van Tran, the

prisoner is presumed competent, and to prevail on his or her claim, the prisoner must

prove incompetency by a preponderance of the evidence.  Id.  We pointed out that

the rules of evidence should not be applied to limit the admissibility of reliable

evidence that is relevant to the issue of competency.  Id.  In addition, Van Tran

directed the prisoner and the State to freely disclose to each other all information

relating to the prisoner’s competency.  6 S.W.3d at 269 n.14.

Therefore, in analyzing the specific issues raised by the appellant in this case,

we are mindful of the basic due process rights to which the prisoner is entitled  under

both Ford and Van Tran.  However, we emphasize that a proceeding to determine

competency to be executed is not a part of the criminal prosecution and thus the full

panoply of rights due a defendant at trial are not due a prisoner in a competency

proceeding.  Cf. Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 480, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 2600, 33 L.

Ed.2d 484 (1972) (stating that the full panoply of trial rights do not apply to a parole

revocation procedure because it is not a part of the criminal prosecution).  Although

the appellant alleges various constitutional violations with respect to every single
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claim he asserts, the appellant provides no authority to support his assertions.  We

emphasize that the only relevant constitutional concern at a competency-to-be-

executed hearing is the right to have the substantive Eighth Amendment claim

determined in a manner that comports with procedural due process.  With this

introduction, we will address the specific issues raised by the State and the appellant.

III.  

PRE-HEARING PROCEDURE

Required Threshold Showing

Initially, the State contends that the appellant did not meet the threshold

showing required to entitle him to a competency hearing under Van Tran, 6 S.W.3d

at 268-69.  The State contends that Dr. Kenner’s aff idavit was conclusory and did not

provide factual details about the appellant’s alleged delusional beliefs and how these

beliefs rendered the appellant incompetent.  The State suggests this Court can affirm

the trial court’s denial of relief on the grounds that the appellant did not meet the

required threshold showing without either reviewing the evidence offered at the

competency hearing or considering the appellant’s procedural challenges.  We

disagree.

In Van Tran, we stated that a prisoner raising the issue of competency to be

executed must make an initial threshold showing that he or she is presently

incompetent.  6 S.W.3d at 269.  We emphasized that this showing may be met by

submitting “affidavits, depositions, medical reports, or other credible evidence” which

are sufficient to demonstrate that a genuine question exists regarding the prisoner’s

present competency.   Id.  As we observed, evidence which is stale is not relevant to
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the issue of present mental competency and will not be sufficient to meet the

threshold.  Only evidence which results from recent mental evaluations or

observations of the prisoner should be submitted.  6 S.W.3d at 269.  We noted that

conclusory assertions are not sufficient, and in most circumstances, the affidavits,

depositions, or medical reports attached to the prisoner’s petition should be from

psychiatrists, psychologists, or other mental health professionals.  Id.  A prisoner

meets the threshold only “[i]f the trial court is satisfied there exists a genuine disputed

issue regarding the prisoner’s present competency. . . .”  Id.  Once the prisoner

establishes that a genuine disputed issue exists regarding his or her present

competency, experts are appointed, mental evaluations are conducted, and a hearing

is held.  Id.  By the time a competency hearing has been held and the case is

pending before this Court on direct appeal, a wealth of information has been elicited

about the prisoner’s competency and a great deal of judicial resources have been

expended.

Although Van Tran did not address the proper time for raising a challenge to

the trial court’s initial finding that the threshold is met, in light of the foregoing

considerations, we conclude that once the hearing on competency has been

conducted, any issue as to the correctness of the trial court’s initial finding that the

prisoner satisfied the threshold showing will be considered moot.  To preserve this

issue, the State must pursue an interlocutory appeal under Tennessee Rule of

Appellate Procedure 9 or 10.  In this case, the State did not pursue an interlocutory

appeal.  The issue is therefore moot, and we decline to address the State’s claim that

the trial court erred in finding that the threshold showing was satisfied. 
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Right To Counsel During Examination By State Experts 

The appellant contends that under the Sixth Amendment he was entitled to

have his counsel present when he was examined by the State’s experts.  He also

argues that the State violated his right to due process by misrepresenting that the

examinations would be videotaped and that he has been denied the right to confront

the State’s witnesses.  These claims are without merit.  

In State v. Martin, 950 S.W.2d 20, 25-27 (Tenn. 1997), we held that a criminal

defendant has no right under either the Sixth Amendment to the United States

Constitution or Article I, § 9 of the Tennessee Constitution to have counsel present

during a court-ordered psychiatric examination.  Since a criminal defendant has no

right to have counsel present at a psychiatric examination prior to his or her criminal

trial, we have no hesitation in holding that a prisoner asserting incompetence to be

executed has no such right.  As previously stated, the constitutional protections which

are afforded during an initial trial do not apply in a proceeding to determine

competency to be executed.  As we recognized in Van Tran, “a proceeding to

determine competency [to be executed] may be initiated only after all other available

federal and state remedies have been exhausted.”  6 S.W.3d at 269 n.14.

Accordingly, we reject the appellant’s claim that the trial court erred by refusing to

allow his counsel to be present during the State’s mental examination.

We also reject the appellant’s claim that his due process rights were violated

by the State’s failure to videotape the examination.  In Martin, we noted that, although

not constitutionally required, to assist both sides in preparing for trial, trial courts have

the discretion to require that a court-ordered mental examination be taped upon a



8Since a competency hearing is not a “criminal prosecution,” the Confrontation Clause of

the Sixth Amendment is not applicable.
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showing that such a safeguard is feasible and not unduly intrusive in a given case.

950 S.W.2d at 27.  The trial court in this case did not abuse its discretion nor deny

the appellant due process by refusing to order taping.  The integrity, reliability, and

accuracy of the truth-seeking function of the competency proceeding in this case was

enhanced by full disclosure of the examining experts’ reports and opinions.  The

record discloses that the decision not to videotape the evaluations was one made by

the State’s experts.  There was no intentional misrepresentation made by the State.

The Confrontation Clause claim has no substance because counsel was not

prevented in any way from cross-examining the doctors who performed the

evaluations.8  The appellant was afforded his due process rights, and this issue is

without merit.

Issues Relating to the Appointment and Use of Mental Health Experts

The appellant raises several issues involving the trial court’s appointment and

use of mental health professionals.  First, the appellant asserts that the trial court’s

refusal to appoint various experts in addition to the two mental health experts to

which he is entitled under Van Tran denied him equal protection and due process as

guaranteed by Ake v. Oklahoma,  170 U.S. 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed.2d 53

(1985), and the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution. 

The record reflects that on December 20, 1999, voicing concern that his

attorneys were unfamiliar with the competency issues in his case, the appellant filed



9Although the trial court apparently felt that the appellant was entitled to have state-funded

experts appointed to assist him prior to the filing of his petition (a right not afforded persons

contemplating a post-conviction proceeding), in its order granting the petitioner a competency

hearing  the trial court d enied the  appellant’s  reques t to appoint m ental hea lth experts  in addition to

Dr. Ken ner and  Dr. Me rikanga s noting th at Van Tran limited the prisoner and the State to two

experts  each.  Cf.  Feara nce v. Sc ott, 56 F .3d 633, 639-4 0 (5th  Cir 19 95) (r ejec ting th e pris one r’s

claim  that th e sta te court’s r efus al to ap point  a fore nsic  expe rt den ied the pris one r a full a nd fa ir

hearing ); Lock ett v. State , 614 So.2d 888, 897 (Miss. 1992) (commenting that the State is not

required  to fund the  prisoner ’s fishing ex pedition).    

10This statement also means that the appellant had no right to seek funding by way of an ex

parte motion or hearing.  As this Court explained in State v. Ba rnett, 909 S.W .2d 423 (Tenn. 1995),

as a ge neral pro position, ex  parte he arings ar e disfavo red.  Id. at 428.  An ex parte hearing was

granted in Ake and in Barne tt only because such a hea ring was constitutionally required to preserve

the theor y and strate gy the indigen t defend ants inten ded to pu rsue at trial.  Id.  The considerations

which justified ex parte proceedings in Ake and Barne tt  are not present in a competency to be

execu ted proc eeding.  In a  com petenc y to be exe cuted p roceed ing, there is n o theory or s trategy to

preser ve; the he aring relate s wholly to a s ingle issue  and the re ports of th e me ntal health e xperts

must be disclosed u nder Van Tran.   No language in either Ford or Van Tran indicates th at ex par te

proceedings are required or appropriate.  Therefore, the appellant was afforded a right to which he

was not entitled when the trial court allowed him to proceed ex parte in his attempts to secu re
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an “Ex parte Motion for Funds for Expert Assistance” requesting funding for several

experts to help investigate the appellant’s condition prior to filing a petition to

determine competency.  In response, the trial court appointed and designated state

funding for Dr. Kenner; Dr. Merikangas;  Dr. Meltzer, a psychiatric expert on

schizophrenia; Julie Hackenmiller, a forensic mental health investigator; and Dr.

Pamela Auble, a neuropsychologist.  The trial court, however, denied funding for a

phsychopharmacologist/sexual abuse expert; a radiologist/PET scan/MRI scan; a

psychiatric expert on psychiatric sequelae of trauma abuse; an endocrinologist; and

experts on serotonin.9

We note initially that the only authorization to appoint state-funded mental

health professionals prior to or during proceedings to determine whether a prisoner

is competent to be executed derives from this Court’s opinion in Van Tran. 6 S.W.3d

at 269.   Since the appellant’s competency proceeding was not a criminal

prosecution, the mandates of Ake and the Sixth Amendment to the federal

constitution do not apply.10  Tennessee Code Annotated § 40-14-207(b) allows the



funding  for addition al expert a ssistanc e. 

11In fact, the court went beyond the dictates of Van Tran by appointing and funding mental

health experts in addition to Drs. Kenner and Merikan gas.  However, this error does not require

remand.  First of all, the appointment of additional experts granted the appellant more than he was

entitled to under Ford or Van Tran.  Second, the State apparently consented to this violation of the

Van Tran procedures and did not file an interlocutory appeal in this Court challenging this departure

from Van Tran.
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appointment of investigative or expert services in capital cases; however, this Court

has limited the application of this statute to the original capital trial and post-

conviction proceedings arising therefrom.  Owens v. State, 908 S.W.2d 923 (Tenn.

1995).  In addition, nothing in Ford requires that the State provide expert assistance

to a prisoner contending that he is incompetent to be executed.  As a result, the

appellant was entitled only to the appointment of two mental health professionals in

accordance with Van Tran.  Therefore, the trial court’s refusal to appoint additional

mental health experts was not error.11 

The appellant also objects to the trial court’s ordering the disclosure of the

reports of those experts whom the trial court appointed to consult with the appellant

but whom the appellant did not intend to call as witnesses:  specifically, Dr. Auble, Dr.

Meltzer, and Dr. Walker.  As stated above, the trial court had authorized the

employment of these three doctors in addition to Dr. Kenner and Dr. Merikangas to

assist the appellant’s attorneys prior to their filing the petition to determine

competency.  When the State issued subpoenas for the records of these experts, the

appellant moved to quash the subpoenas.  Although the trial court granted the motion

to quash, it found that the entire files created by these three doctors during their

examinations of the appellant were relevant to the determination of the appellant’s

competency and ordered that the files be submitted under seal to the court for use



12The appellant filed an extraordinary appeal under Tenn. R . App. P. 10 in this Court

cha llengin g the  trial co urt’s o rder  requ iring d isclosure .  This  Cou rt den ied the app lication bec ause it

did not meet the requirements of Rule 10.  However, denial of a Rule 10 application does not

constitute  a ruling on th e me rits of the un derlying issu e.  Acco rdingly, we are  addres sing the m erits

of this  issue  for the firs t time  in this a ppeal.
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by the mental health experts appointed by the court and by the court itself.12

The appellant contends that the reports of these three experts should not have

been disclosed because disclosure (1) violated the principles of pretrial disclosure,

the work product rule and the consulting expert doctrine set out in Tenn. R. Civ. Proc.

26 and Tenn. R. Crim. Proc. 16; (2) violated the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution; and (3) violated the due process

mandated by Ford.

Initially we note that the discovery rules, work product, and consulting expert

doctrine are procedural rules designed for criminal and civil trials.  A competency

proceeding is sui generis; it is not a trial, and the only procedures applicable are

those set out in Van Tran.  The rules of civil and criminal procedure do not apply to

competency proceedings except to the extent that Van Tran is silent on a procedure

and the Rules offer an appropriate procedure that does not conflict with the purpose

of the competency hearing.  See State v. Reid, 981 S.W.2d 166, 170 (Tenn.

1998)(trial court has inherent power to adopt appropriate rules of procedure patterned

upon analogous rules of procedure). 

In addition, as previously noted, except for the requirements of due process

mandated by Ford, none of the amendments to the Federal Constitution relied on by

the appellant are pertinent to the procedures adopted by this Court for determining
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competency to be executed.  A prisoner at a competency hearing has no Sixth

Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel inasmuch as these

proceedings are not “a criminal prosecution.”  Cf. Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1,

10, 109 S. Ct. 2765, 2770, 106 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1989); House v. State, 911 S.W.2d 705,

712 (Tenn. 1995)(no constitutional right to counsel or effective assistance of counsel

at post-conviction proceedings.)  In addition, the guaranty of the Fourth Amendment

against unreasonable searches and seizures is not applicable to these

circumstances.  Likewise the Fifth Amendment does not apply, except to the extent

that Ford requires these proceedings comport with procedural due process, notice,

and an opportunity to be heard.  See 477 U.S. at 425, 106 S. Ct. at 2609 (Powell, J.,

concurring).  The only constitutional question presented is whether the trial court’s

order comports with basic due process which essentially means basic fairness.  See

id.  Since the only issue in a competency proceeding is the prisoner’s mental state,

full reciprocal disclosure of experts appointed to assist either party does not offend

basic notions of fairness and due process.  Cf. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13.4022(C)

(West 1998 Supp.)(providing that in a competency to be executed hearing “[t]he

parties shall also disclose to the appointed experts and to each other the names and

addresses of any other previously undisclosed mental health experts who have

examined the prisoner and the results of the examinations”); Tex. Crim. P. Code Ann.

§ 46.04(j) (West 1999) (providing that a prisoner who files a competency petition

“waives any claim of privilege with respect to, and consents to the release of, all

mental health and medical records relevant to whether the [prisoner] is incompetent

to be executed”). 

  In Van Tran, this Court expressly adopted a policy of free and open



13The appellant contends that these reports were not part of the record of the competency

proceeding.  This contention is without merit.  The reports are contained in a sealed exhibit which

was  filed w ith the  reco rd on  appe al.
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disclosure of all information relating to the prisoner’s competency.  See 6 S.W.3d at

269 n.14.  The established and clear goal of competency proceedings is to accurately

ascertain the prisoner’s mental state.  Mental health experts appointed by the trial

court in competency proceedings are not experts “retained” by the parties but are

experts appointed to assist the trial court in reaching an impartial and fully informed

decision regarding competency. Cf. Tenn. R. Evid. 706 (providing for experts to be

appointed by the court in a bench trial and their availability to all parties).  Likewise,

once an expert is appointed by the Court to assist a party in the determination of the

prisoner’s mental state, he or she is subject to the requirement of full disclosure in

Van Tran.  See 6 S.W.3d at 269 (requiring mental health professionals to file written

evaluations with the court and copies of the evaluations to be given to the parties).

Even in the context of a civil or criminal trial, disclosure is required in similar

situations, where the mental condition of a party is in controversy.  See State v.

Huskey, 964 S.W.2d 892, 899 (Tenn. 1998); Tenn. R. Civ. P. 35.    Therefore, the

trial court’s order requiring disclosure of the reports of the experts previously

appointed by the court was consistent with the principles of due process as described

in Ford and Van Tran. 

The appellant also complains that the trial judge’s consideration of the reports

of those experts who did not testify, specifically Dr. Meltzer, violated the hearsay rule,

the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and due process.  This claim

has no merit.13  The court’s consideration of these reports was not restricted by the

hearsay rule.  Van Tran provides that the rules of evidence are not applicable to limit
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the admissibility of reliable evidence that is relevant to the issue of the prisoner’s

competency.  6 S.W.3d at 271.  As noted earlier, since this case is not a “criminal

prosecution,” the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment is not applicable.  

Finally, consideration of the reports does not violate the due process

requirements of Ford or Van Tran.  The plurality opinion in Ford contemplates that

the prisoner should be able to challenge or clarify the State’s proof either by means

of  cross-examination or “a less formal equivalent.”  477 U.S. at 415, 106 S. Ct. at

2604 (Marshall, J, plurality opinion).  Justice Powell opined that live testimony and

cross-examination are not essential to “arriving at sound, consistent judgments as to

a [prisoner’s] sanity.”  477 U.S. at 426, 106 S. Ct. at 2610.  No language in Ford

indicates that due process precludes the State from  introducing or the trial court from

considering documentary proof.  So long as the prisoner is afforded an opportunity

to review the proof and to challenge or clarify its contents, either by live witnesses or

other documentary proof, the due process required by Ford is satisfied.  Although we

stated in Van Tran that the “prisoner is entitled to cross-examine the State’s

witnesses,” we did not by that statement intend to preclude the State from relying

upon reports of experts who are not called as witnesses.  We meant only that if the

State calls a witness, the prisoner must be allowed to cross-examine the witness.

With respect to documentary proof we hold that due process requires only that the

prisoner be afforded an opportunity to review, challenge, or clarify the proof.

In this case, the appellant was allowed to cross-examine all of the witnesses

offered by the State.  Moreover, the appellant was fully aware of the contents of Dr.

Meltzer’s report.  In addition, the appellant had ample time to review the report and
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was not precluded from challenging or clarifying the information and opinions

contained in the report.  In fact, one of the appellant’s experts, Dr. Merikangas,

testified with respect to Dr. Meltzer’s report and disagreed with the conclusions

reached by Dr. Meltzer.  We therefore find no merit in the appellant’s contention that

the trial court’s consideration of Dr. Meltzer’s report violated his right to due process.

Disqualification of the Attorney General’s Office

The appellant contends that the trial court erred by denying his motion to

disqualify the entire Office of the State Attorney General and Reporter because

Attorney General Paul Summers previously acted in a judicial capacity in the

appellant’s case when, while serving as a judge of the Court of Criminal Appeals, he

authored an opinion affirming the dismissal of the appellant’s second post-conviction

petition and setting an execution date.  See State v. Robert Glen Coe, CCA No. 138

(Tenn. Crim. App., Jackson, Jan. 16, 1991). 

In an order filed December 9, 1999, this Court granted the appellant’s motion

to disqualify Attorney General Summers from this case.  However, this Court denied

the appellant’s motion to disqualify the entire Office of the Attorney General because

General Summers’ prior judicial involvement imparted no confidential information to

the staff of the Office of the Attorney General.  See State v. Tate, 925 S.W.2d at 556;

State v. Mattress, 564 S.W.2d 678, 680 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977) (holding that

disqualification of a governmental office is required only when an actual conflict of

interest is present or confidential communications are disclosed).  This

disqualification issue clearly was resolved by this Court’s order of December 9, 1999,

denying the appellant’s motion to disqualify the entire Office of the Attorney General.
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Accordingly, the appellant’s assertion that the trial court erred by denying the same

motion is entirely without merit.

Prosecutorial Misconduct

The appellant contends that “prosecutorial misconduct” occurred when an

assistant district attorney general informed the trial court during a pre-hearing

discussion that correctional officers had told him that the appellant had not been

acting in a bizarre manner.  The appellant contends that the “prosecutorial

misconduct” deprived him of due process under Ford because the statements caused

the trial court to be biased against him.  We have examined the prosecutor’s

statements and conclude that the statements did not constitute prosecutorial

misconduct or deprive the appellant of due process.

The comments about which the appellant now complains were made in

response to the appellant’s request for discovery of any statements that the appellant

had made to correctional officers.  One of the appellant’s attorneys stated that he

would be attempting to contact correctional officers “over the weekend” to determine

if any of them had witnessed any bizarre behavior.  The assistant district attorney

general responded that, although the State had spoken to several correctional

officers, it had no statements from them indicating that the appellant was delusional.

The assistant district attorney general added:

I can assure Mr. Hutton that there is nothing exculpatory that we found.
And we obviously wanted to see if someone said that he was in fact
acting bizarre.  And out of the fifteen or twenty guards that I talked to,
no one indicated that he acted psychotic or bizarre.  In fact, the
consensus was that this is all just a big game he’s playing.  So, you
know, obviously, if there is something that was even approachable to
a symptom that I could give Mr. Hutton – we did not discover any.  And
I can at least assure him of that.  There’s not something there that
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they’re missing, as far as what these guards are saying.  

But, I think, obviously, its important for them to talk to them themselves,
and not just take my word for it.  But I’m not in the possession of
anything exculpatory.  There’s been no deals made with anybody.
There’s been – It’s just strictly interview, and personnel.

 
Clearly, the assistant district attorney general’s remarks were intended to assist the

appellant’s counsel and the trial court by communicating information directly pertinent

to the issue which had been raised by the appellant’s counsel–the existence of

correctional officer statements relating that the appellant was behaving in a bizarre

or unusual manner.  These statements did not constitute prosecutorial misconduct.

Had counsel’s remarks been improper, his comments, which were supported by the

guards who did testify and by the opinions of the State’s expert witnesses did not

prejudice the appellant much less render the hearing fundamentally unfair. In

addition, the record contains no indication that these statements deprived the

appellant of due process by causing the trial court to be biased against him.  This

issue is without merit.

Denial of Continuance

On the day the competency hearing began, the appellant filed a motion for a

continuance claiming that he needed additional time to find an expert witness to

counter the State’s theory that the appellant was malingering.  The appellant also

claimed that a continuance was necessary to find a handwriting expert to respond to

the State’s expert.  A few days before, the court had granted a Certificate of Need to

subpoena an expert witness on the issue of malingering and had granted funds to the

appellant to employ a handwriting expert.  The appellant argues, however, that in light

of the date set for the hearing, it was unrealistic and impossible for him to obtain
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these witnesses.  Thus, he says, his competency hearing was fundamentally unfair

under Ford and the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution.

A trial court’s denial of a request for a continuance will only be reversed upon

a showing of abuse of discretion.  State v. Cazes, 875 S.W.2d 253, 261 (Tenn.

1994). In this case, the appellant has failed to show that the trial court abused its

discretion.  Counsel for the appellant had received the reports of the State’s experts

on January 13, 2000, eleven days before the hearing was scheduled to begin and

were aware that the State’s experts were reporting the appellant to be malingering.

In addition, counsel for the appellant was aware that the State intended to call a

handwriting expert as is evidenced by his request for funding for a handwriting expert.

Despite this knowledge, counsel waited until the day the hearing was scheduled to

begin to make a motion for a continuance.  The trial court did not abuse its discretion

in denying the motion.

In any event, the appellant has failed to demonstrate that he was denied due

process by the trial court’s ruling.  The appellant was able to meet and contradict the

State’s proof about malingering through the testimony of Dr. Merikangas, Dr. Kenner,

and Dr. Walker.  All three of these witnesses disagreed with the State’s witnesses

and testified that the appellant was not malingering.  Moreover, as the trial court

recognized, the question of malingering was, by and large, irrelevant to the question

of whether the appellant was competent to be executed.  Furthermore, the

appellant’s inability to find a handwriting expert clearly did not constitute a denial of

due process.  The trial court expressly stated that in determining the appellant’s
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competency it did not consider the evidence upon which the State offered the

testimony of the handwriting expert.  Accordingly, the trial court’s denial of the

appellant’s motion for a continuance did not deprive the appellant of due process.

IV.  

HEARING PROCEDURES

Right to Jury Determination

Initially, the appellant contends that his right to due process was violated

because the issue of competency was not tried to a jury.  Specifically, he contends

that having the trial judge preside over the many procedural aspects of the case

adversely affected the impartiality of the judge as the trier of fact and thereby denied

him his right to due process.  We disagree.  As was stated in Van Tran, none of the

various opinions in Ford indicate that a prisoner has a due process right to a jury trial

on the issue of competency to be executed.  See Ford, 477 U.S. at 418, 106 S. Ct.

at 2606 (plurality opinion) (“[p]etitioner is entitled to an evidentiary hearing in the

District Court, de novo, on the question of his competence to be executed.”); Ford,

477 U.S. at 427, 106 S. Ct. at 2610 (Powell, J., concurring) (“[A] constitutionally

acceptable procedure may be far less formal than a trial.  The State should provide

an impartial officer or board that can receive evidence and argument from the

prisoner’s counsel . . . .”); Ford, 477 U.S. at 429, 106 S. Ct. at 2611-12 (O’Connor,

J., concurring in the result in part and dissenting in part) (“I consider it self-evident

that once society has validly convicted an individual of a crime and therefore

established its right to punish, the demands of due process are reduced

accordingly.”).  In addition, only three states afford such a right by statute.  See 6

S.W.3d at 270 (citing statues).  Accordingly, we reaffirm our holding in Van Tran that



14As in this case, Justice Birch dissented in Van Tran from our conclusions that a prisoner

is not  entitle d to a  jury tria l, that th e pris one r bea rs the  burd en of  prov ing inc om pete ncy by a

prep onderan ce of  the eviden ce, and that the  criter ia for d ecid ing co mp eten ce fo r exe cutio n sho uld

include a n inquiry into the  prisoner ’s ability to assist co unsel. 
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a prisoner has no right to a jury trial in a competency proceeding.14  The appellant’s

claim that denying a jury trial adversely affected the impartiality of the trier of fact is

without merit.

Burden of Proof

The appellant next claims that his right to due process was violated because

Van Tran assigned to the prisoner the burden of proving incompetence by a

preponderance of the evidence.  Again, we reject this claim.  Our holding on this

issue in Van Tran is consistent with Justice Powell’s opinion in Ford, see 477 U.S. at

426, 106 S. Ct. at 2610, as well as the law of several other states relating to

competency to be executed procedures.  See 6 S.W.3d at 271 (citing statutes and

cases).  Requiring the appellant to bear the burden of proof on the issue did not

deprive him of due process.

Standard of Competency

The appellant next argues that the standard of competency adopted by this

Court in Van Tran, and applied by the trial judge in this proceeding, violates his rights

under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and

Article I, Sections 8 and 16 of the Tennessee Constitution.  Specifically the appellant

argues that the standard for determining competency must be tailored to reflect the

reason which supports the constitutional prohibition on execution of the incompetent.

According to the appellant, if the standard does not serve the reason for the

substantive right, the standard is unconstitutional.  In addition, the appellant argues



-44-

that the standard is unconstitutional because it does not include the common law

assistance prong which required that a prisoner be held incompetent if the prisoner

lacked sufficient capacity to assist his attorney.

We reject the appellant’s constitutional challenges to the standard adopted in

Van Tran and applied in this case.  The standard adopted by this Court in Van Tran,

6 S.W.3d at 266, was enunciated by Justice Powell in his separate opinion in Ford.

As previously stated, Justice Powell is the only member of the Ford Court to offer

guidance as to the standard for determining competency in the Eighth Amendment

context.  Again, as previously stated, since Justice Powell cast the f ifth and decisive

vote, his opinion reflects the narrowest grounds for the Court’s judgment and is

controlling on the state courts and lower federal courts as to the minimum standard.

See Marks 430 U.S. at 193, 97 S. Ct. at 993.  Moreover, the standard adopted by

Justice Powell has been adopted by a number of other states. See Van Tran, 6

S.W.3d at 266 (citing statutes).  Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the standard

adopted by Justice Powell has been cited as controlling in a subsequent decision of

the United States Supreme Court.  See Penry v. Lynaugh, 492 U.S. at 333, 109 S.

Ct. at 2954.   Accordingly, we reject the appellant’s claim that the standard is

unconstitutional and reaffirm our holding  in Van Tran that under Tennessee law a

prisoner is “not competent to be executed if the prisoner lacks the mental capacity

to understand the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.”  6 S.W.3d

at 266.

The appellant next contends that the trial court in this case misapplied the

standard  and required only that the appellant be “aware” of the fact of the impending
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execution and the reason for it while this Court’s decision in Van Tran requires that

the prisoner “understand” the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.

The appellant asserts that he had only “awareness” and not “understanding.”

According to the appellant, Dr. Merikangas’s testimony, and particularly the following

passages, support his assertion.

He [the appellant] also has the delusional belief that if he is executed,
he will just simply be in another place in the same body, will visit his ex-
wife and child.  He will maybe temporarily be one of these balls of fire
that speaks to people.

Mr. Coe does not understand the meaning of death nor does he feel
that being executed will be a punishment.   Rather he views his
forthcoming execution as a release from his present situation in order
that he may return to life.

His [the appellant’s] view of it [death] is a little bit idiosyncratic in that
he will suddenly be alive as Robert Coe outside of prison with his ex-
wife and daughter.

[The appellant] is aware, and I think your expert used the word aware
not the word understand in his report, the bottom line of your expert’s
report is he is aware.  I agree that he is aware of an execution.  My
point is he does not have the mental capacity to understand.

[The appellant] lacks the mental capacity to understand why he is being
put to death.  To him it is not punishment.  To him it is a relief that he
seeks from his suffering. . . .  And his understanding of what will
happen when he is given the needle, the intravenous drug that will kill
him, is that he will then be out of prison and he will be walking around.
And I don’t know of any religion where that is part of the dogma.

In my opinion, Mr. Coe is aware of his impending execution and the
reasons for it.  The words used in the Van Tran decision is the mental
capacity for understanding.  Now to say that a delusional, hallucinating,
psychotic, person who decompensates and dissociates under stress
and whose delusional belief is that his death is to prevent the truth from
coming out and that the consequence of the execution is that he will
return to earth in this body and go live with his separated wife and child,
his now grown daughter, as a delusion, does not indicate that he has
an understanding either of the consequences of being executed or th
reason for it.

As is obvious from a cursory reading of Van Tran and Ford, the appellant’s
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argument is without merit.  The following quote from Van Tran is instructive.

We agree with Justice Powell that in a proceeding to determine
competency to be executed only those who are unaware of the
punishment they are about to suffer and the reason they are to suffer
it are entitled to a reprieve.  [citation omitted]  Accordingly, we adopt the
“cognitive test,” and hold that under Tennessee law a prisoner is not
competent to be executed if the prisoner lacks the mental capacity to
understand the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.

6 S.W.3d at 266.  This quote demonstrates that this Court was not ascribing to

“awareness” and “understanding” the technical meanings that these words may have

in the field of psychology. The words should be given their ordinary, common

meanings.  Justice Powell also employed various terms in his concurring opinion in

Ford, 477 U.S. at 422, 106 S. Ct. at 2608 (“know,” “perceives,” “aware,” and

“unaware”).  Clearly, Justice Powell did not intend to assign a technical meaning to

the words he used in describing the Eighth Amendment competency standard.  He

was using various terms as synonyms just as this Court did in Van Tran.  Even Dr.

Merikangas testified that “[the appellant’s] understanding of why he’s been convicted

is that he was convicted for a crime he did not commit that was involving murdering

and raping an eight year old girl.”  Under Van Tran, a prisoner need only understand

or be aware of the fact of his or her impending execution and the reason for it.  The

appellant’s claim that these two words are distinct and that the trial court in this case

misapplied the standard adopted in Van Tran is without merit.

To the contrary, we agree with the State that the evidence in this record fully

supports the trial court’s finding that the appellant has the mental capacity to



15In his reply brief, filed March 2, 2000, the appellant argues that the evidence at the

hearing “o verw helm ingly” e stab lishes  that h e will be  incom pete nt on  Mar ch 23 , 2000, the  day of  his

schedu led ex ecu tion.  H e spe cifica lly relies  upon  the te stim ony of  Dr. K enner an d Dr.  Mer ikan gas  in

support of his assertion.  The issue before the trial court was the appellant’s present com petenc y to

be executed.  The evidence in this record overwhelmingly supports the trial court’s finding that the

appellant is presently competent to be executed.  As we stated in Van Tran, “[i]f a prisoner is found

to be com petent, su bsequ ent Ford claims will be disallowed unless the prisoner, by way of a motion

for stay, provides this Court with an affidavit from a mental health professional showing that there

has been a substantial change in the prisoner’s mental health since the previous determination of

competency was made and the showing is sufficient to raise a substantial question about the

prisoner’s competency to be executed.”  6 S.W.3d at 272.  Thus, any future change in the

appellant’s mental health must be raised as provided in Van Tran.  We emphasize, however, that

conclusory affidavits will not satisfy the showing that there has been a “substantial change” in the

prisoner’s mental health sufficient to “raise a substantial question about the prisoner’s competency

to be executed.”  Id.

-47-

understand the fact of his impending execution and the reason for it.15  Interestingly,

a great deal of time, energy, and proof at this hearing was devoted to either

describing the various diagnoses of mental disorders or to establishing and rebutting

the claim of malingering.  Without question, all of the mental health professionals

eventually concluded that the appellant had some type of mental disorder, although

there was disagreement as to the precise diagnosis and to the seriousness of the

disorder.  However, the  problem for the appellant is that the existence of a mental

disorder does not automatically translate into a finding of incompetency to be

executed.  See Weeks v. Jones, 52 F.3d 1559, 1569 (11th Cir. 1995); Shaw v.

Armontrout, 900 F.2d 123 (8th Cir. 1990);  Lowenfield v. Butler, 843 F.2d 183, 186

(5th Cir. 1988); Billiot v. State, 655 So.2d 1, 17 (Miss. 1995).

The evidence in this record fully supports the trial court’s finding that the

appellant is competent.  Dr. Merikangas admitted that the appellant was aware of his

impending execution and of the reason for the execution, but he attempted to draw

a distinction between “understanding” and “awareness,” a distinction which, as we

have just concluded, does not exist.  While Dr. Kenner opined that the appellant will

become incompetent as his execution approaches, Dr. Kenner admitted that the
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appellant had been competent during his last interview.  Dr. Matthews, Dr. Martell,

and Dr. Walker all testified that the appellant had the mental capacity to understand

the fact of his impending execution and the reason for it, and Dr. Meltzer’s report was

consistent with their testimony.

Moreover, the appellant’s conduct both before and during the hearing is further

support for the trial court’s finding of competency.  The appellant has already chosen

a method of execution.  He has indicated that he would like to be allowed to donate

his organs.  He has indicated that, if offered, he will refuse to accept any sedatives

prior to his execution because he “think[s] there might be a  God, and I’ve got enough

to deal with  him, without being drunk on Valium.”  Comments made by the appellant

during the competency hearing, and set out in the trial court’s order which is attached

hereto as an appendix, indicate that the appellant understands his current legal

proceedings.  While he maintains that he is innocent, the record clearly reflects that

the appellant knows that he was sentenced to death for murdering a young girl.  The

appellant’s comments asserting his innocence and contending that the purpose of his

execution is to prevent the truth from coming out actually demonstrate that he

understands the fact of his impending execution and the reason for it.  Cf.

Schornhorst v. Anderson, 77 F. Supp. 2d 944, 955 (S.D. Ind. 1999) (stating that the

prisoner considered his execution unfair, but finding that the prisoner had failed to

make a threshold showing of incompetency). 

Finally, the appellant’s unusual views about what will happen to him after he

is executed are not pertinent to the question of his competency because they do not

impede his ability to understand the fact of his impending execution and the reason
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for it.  As courts have recognized, what occurs beyond death is not a subject on

which any witness can be qualified as an expert, and every person is free to believe

as he or she may wish on that subject.  See  Weeks, 52 F.3d at 1570 and Weeks v.

Jones, 100 F.3d 124, 125 n.3 (11th Cir. 1996) (finding that the prisoner’s belief that

he would be transformed into a giant tortoise upon his death and rule the universe

did not render him incompetent to be executed); Garrett v. Collins, 951 F.2d 57, 58

(5th Cir. 1992) (finding the prisoner competent to be executed despite his belief that

his deceased aunt would save him through supernatural intervention).

Accordingly, we conclude that the appellant’s constitutional challenges to the

standard for determining competency and his challenges to the trial court’s

application of the standard are without merit.  We agree with the State that the

evidence in this record fully supports and does not preponderate against the trial

court’s finding that the appellant is competent to be executed.

Application of Tennessee Rule of Evidence 615

The appellant contends that the trial court erred in allowing the State’s experts

to remain in the courtroom during the testimony of the appellant’s experts.  The
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At the request of a party the court shall order witnesses, including

rebuttal witne sses, e xcluded  at trial or other a djudicato ry hearing. 

In the court’s discretion, the requested sequestration may be
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appellant argues that he invoked Tenn. R. Evid. 61516 and the trial court should have

applied Rule 615 because the State failed to demonstrate an exception to its

application.  He argues that the trial court’s failure to apply the rule to exclude the

State’s experts deprived him of due process because his experts are in the private

practice of psychiatry and were unable to be in the courtroom throughout the

presentation of the State’s proof because of the demands of their private practices.

The question presented by the appellant’s claim is whether Tenn. R. Evid. 615

applies to hearings to determine competency to be executed.  While Van Tran does

not directly address this precise issue, this Court stated that the rules of evidence

should not be applied to limit the admission of reliable evidence that is relevant to the

issue of the prisoner’s competency.   6 S.W.3d at 271.  Allowing the mental health

experts to remain in the courtroom during the presentation of the proof is entirely

consistent with the purpose of competency proceedings which is to accurately

ascertain the prisoner’s mental state.  There is no language in Ford which would

require application of Tenn. R. Evid. 615.  In fact, Justice Marshall in the plurality

opinion wrote that “the adversary presentation of relevant information should be as

unrestricted as possible.”  Ford, 477 U.S. at 417, 106 S. Ct. at 2605.  Also, the
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dangers Rule 615 is intended to prevent do not arise in a proceeding to determine

competency to be executed.  In light of the fact that both the State and the prisoner

have access to the reports of the experts prior to the hearing, there is little or no risk

that one of the expert witnesses will change his or her testimony or adopt facts

testified to by earlier witnesses.  See State v. Harris, 839 S.W.2d 54, 68 (Tenn.

1992)(discussing the purposes of the rule).  Accordingly, we conclude that the trial

court did not err, and we hold that Tenn. R. Evid. 615 should not be applied to

exclude expert witnesses from hearings to determine competency to be executed.

We also hold that the trial court’s refusal to apply the rule did not deprive the

appellant of due process.  The trial court’s ruling applied to both parties.  The

appellant’s experts were free to remain in the courtroom after they testified, and it

appears from the record that one defense expert, Dr. Merikangas, was in the

courtroom during part of the State’s case because he testified as an offer of proof

about the potential physical dangers to the appellant from the gag.  The trial court

can not be charged with error simply because the appellant’s experts had

professional practice commitments that precluded them from remaining in the

courtroom, especially when the appellant never requested additional funding that

would have enabled his experts to remain.  The appellant’s claim that he was denied

due process is without merit.

Bias of the Trial Court

The appellant contends that he was denied his due process right to an

impartial trier of fact.  He asserts that the trial court’s order to gag him when his

behavior became disruptive constituted an implicit finding that the appellant was
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acting intentionally and indicated that the trial court had already decided the essential

issue.  The appellant contends that the trial court’s denial of his motion for recusal

further illustrates that the court was biased against him.

Even during a trial, a criminal defendant can constitutionally be gagged or

removed from the courtroom if the criminal defendant is engaging is disruptive

conduct.  See Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed.2d 353 (1970);

State v. Cole, 629 S.W.2d 915 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1981).  While we stated in Van

Tran  “that the prisoner shall be present at the hearing,”  see 6 S.W.3d at 271, we did

not mean to imply that the right of a prisoner to be present at a competency hearing

is  absolute and cannot be waived even if the prisoner behaves in a disruptive and

assaultive fashion.  Indeed, a future case may arise in which the prisoner can attend

no part of the competency hearing because the prisoner’s behavior poses a

substantial risk of danger to himself or others at the hearing.  While a prisoner should

not be unreasonably precluded from attending or remaining in a competency hearing,

we hold that trial courts have the authority to remove or exclude  prisoners who are

behaving in a disruptive manner or who are posing a risk of danger to either

themselves or others in attendance at the hearing.  No due process right of the

prisoner is offended by such a holding.

In addition, no due process right of the appellant was violated by the trial

court’s actions in this case.  The trial court was very careful to afford the appellant his

right to be present at the competency proceeding.  The appellant engaged in

tremendously disruptive conduct for an extended period of time.  The trial court was

reluctant to utilize the gag, but eventually concluded that the restraint was necessary
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to enable the appellant to remain in the courtroom.  After the gag was applied, the

trial court directed medical personnel to regularly check the appellant’s physical

condition.  Once the trial court learned that an option was available which would

accommodate both the appellant’s interest in being present and viewing the

proceeding and the trial court’s interest in maintaining order, the trial court readily

agreed to that option.   Even after the appellant was moved to the viewing room, the

trial court continued to scrupulously guard the appellant’s rights.  The trial court

allowed one of the appellant’s attorneys to remain in the room with the appellant,

and, after each witness, the trial court afforded to the appellant’s counsel in the

courtroom an opportunity to confer with the appellant and co-counsel in the viewing

room.  The record clearly reflects that the trial court’s decision to gag and eventually

remove the appellant from the proceeding was the product of necessity, not the

product of bias. At all times, the trial judge in this case conducted himself with

patience, dignity, and decorum.  The trial court did not err by denying the motion for

recusal.

Admissibility of Dr. Martell’s Testimony

As previously stated, Dr. Martell, who is licensed to practice psychology in New

York and California but not in Tennessee, performed a forensic evaluation of the

appellant and testified at the competency hearing on behalf of the State.  The

appellant contends that the trial court should not have considered the testimony of

Dr. Martell because he did not comply with the requirements of Tenn. Code Ann. §

63-11-211(b)(5) for obtaining a temporary license to practice psychology in

Tennessee.  The appellant further asserts that the trial court allowed Dr. Martell to

violate the criminal law by performing the evaluation and by testifying, see Tenn.
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Code Ann. § 63-11-206(a) (providing that the unlicenced practice of psychology is a

Class B misdemeanor), and that utilization of this “illegal” witness rendered the

proceedings fundamentally unfair under Ford, the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  The State responds that

§ 63-11-211(b)(5) did not apply because Dr. Martell’s evaluation of the appellant and

his testimony as an expert witness did not involve performing the functions for which

authorization is required under the statute.

Section 63-11-211(b)(5) provides:

The board [of examiners in psychology] may, upon prior
written request, grant written authorization for a
psychologist licensed in good standing in another state
and who meets standards acceptable to the board to
perform the functions of §§ 63-11-203 [practice of
psychologist] and 63-11-208(d)(2)(B) [health service
provider], without possessing a license to practice as a
psychologist in Tennessee when under the supervision
of a Tennessee licensed psychologist in good standing.
Such authorization shall not exceed thirty (30) days per
year.  Such authorization shall be for such purposes as
special training or consultation, special evaluation and/or
intervention, and serving as an expert witness.  Nothing
in this section shall be construed to permit regular,
repetitive or ongoing provision of psychological services,
or supervision of psychological services, or for the
solicitation or advertisement of services to the general
public.    

This reciprocity statute allows a psychologist who is licensed in another state, but not

in Tennessee, to receive written authorization to temporarily perform the functions of

a psychologist or a health service provider when under the supervision of a

Tennessee licensed psychologist.  The statute gives examples of the purposes for

such authorization:  special training or consultation, special evaluation and/or

intervention, and serving as an expert witness.
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Since the appellant does not contend that Dr. Martell performed the functions

of a health service provider, the first question is whether Dr. Martell was practicing as

a psychologist when he conducted a forensic evaluation of the appellant in

conjunction with the competency proceedings.  “Practice of psychologist” is defined

in Tenn. Code Ann. § 63-11-203(a) as 

the observation, description, evaluation, interpretation,
and modification of human behavior by the application of
psychological principles, methods, and procedures, for
the purpose of preventing or eliminating symptomatic,
maladaptive, or undesired behavior and of enhancing
interpersonal relationships, work and life adjustment,
personal effectiveness, behavioral health, and mental
health. (Emphasis added.)

The only purpose of Dr. Martell’s evaluation was to determine whether the appellant

is competent to be executed.  The evaluation was not for the purpose of “preventing

or eliminating” any psychological illness of the appellant and “enhancing” his mental

health.  Therefore, the performance of the forensic evaluation did not constitute the

practice of psychology and no authorization was required under § 63-11-211(b)(5).

The next question is whether Dr. Martell was required to receive written

authorization under § 63-11-211(b)(5) to testify as an expert witness.  We must

determine what is meant by the language in the statute including “serving as an

expert witness” as one of the purposes for such authorization.  The Court’s role in

statutory interpretation is to determine and give effect to the legislative intent without

unduly restricting or expanding a statute’s coverage beyond its intended scope.  State

v. Butler, 980 S.W.2d 359, 362 (Tenn. 1998).  The component parts of a statute

should be construed, if possible, so that the parts are consistent and reasonable.

State v. Alford, 970 S.W.2d 944, 946 (Tenn. 1998).    
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The appellant’s interpretation, which would require written authorization for any

out-of-state psychologist serving as an expert witness, would render that part of the

statute inconsistent with the provision limiting the requirement of written authorization

and would expand the statute’s coverage beyond its intended scope.  As discussed

above, the written authorization referred to in § 63-11-211(b)(5) must be obtained

only by an out-of-state psychologist who will perform the functions of a psychologist

or a health service provider.  The inclusion of “serving as an expert witness” as one

of the purposes for such authorization indicates only that authorization under § 63-11-

211(b)(5) enables an out-of-state psychologist to serve as an expert witness, among

other activities, incident to his or her performance of the functions of a psychologist

or a health care provider.  Since Dr. Martell’s appearance as an expert witness did

not involve either of these two functions for which written authorization must be

obtained, § 63-11-211(b)(5) did not apply.  We conclude, therefore, that the trial court

did not abuse its discretion or condone a crime in allowing Dr. Martell to testify or in

considering his testimony.   Since Dr. Martell was not an illegal witness, the

appellant’s claim that his constitutional rights were violated is totally without merit. 

     

 Reliability of Scientific Proof

Next the appellant challenges Dr. Martell’s conclusion that the appellant was

malingering because the reliability of the psychological tests used by Dr. Martell,

specifically the MCMI3, the SIRS, the MMPI and the MMPI-2, has never been

specifically evaluated for death row inmates.  He contends that the admission of such

“misleading” and unreliable evidence rendered the hearing fundamentally unfair and

violated the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution.  His specific complaint about these tests is that (1) they have not been
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subjected to peer review for their validity in determining malingering in death row

inmates; (2) they have not been tested to determine their scientific validity for

determining malingering in death row inmates; and (3) the rate of error for these tests

has not been established for death row populations.  We reject the appellant’s claim

that the results of standard psychological testing performed for the purpose of

determining whether a death row inmate is competent to be executed are unreliable

unless specifically validated by scientific studies among the death row population.

Generally, the admissibility of evidence is governed by standards of relevancy

and reliability.  State v. Begley, 956 S.W.2d 471, 475 (Tenn. 1997); Tenn. R. Evid.

402.  The admissibility of expert and scientific evidence in particular is governed by

Rules 702 and 703 of the Tennessee Rules of Evidence.  Under Rule 702, “[i]f

scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will substantially assist the trier

of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified

as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify in the

form of an opinion or otherwise.”  Under Rule 703, the facts or data underlying the

expert’s opinion must be “of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular

field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject,“ and trustworthy.  As we

stated in Van Tran and reiterate in this opinion, the rules of evidence should not be

applied in competency hearings to limit the admissibility of reliable evidence that is

relevant to the issue of the prisoner’s competency.  6 S.W.3d at 271.  In this instance,

however, the purposes of Rules 702 and 703 are consistent with this policy since

these rules and the procedure adopted in Van Tran share a common goal of ensuring

that scientific evidence admitted at a competency hearing is both reliable and

relevant to “the fact in issue.” 



17The appellant suggests that the appropriate standard for determining the admissibility of

scientific expert proof was defined by the United States Suprem e Court case of Dau bert v . Mer rell

Dow  Pha rmaceutica ls, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed .2d 469 (1993).  W e note, however,

that Daubert dealt with the admissibility of scientific and expert proof under the Federal Rules of

Evidence.  In McDaniel, we noted that our own rules of evidence are narrower than the

corresponding federal rules.  While acknowledging the general principles espoused in Daubert , we

declined  to adopt Daubert and held that admissibili ty would ultimately be determined under Tenn. R.

Evid. 702 and 703.  The ap pellant has cited no authority requiring the adoption of Daubert as a

prerequisite of affording due process in a com petency to be executed hearing und er Ford.
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This Court set the standards governing admissibility of expert scientific proof

in Tennessee in McDaniel v. CSX Transp. Inc., 955 S.W.2d 257 (Tenn. 1997):17  

In Tennessee, under the recent rules, a trial court
must determine whether the evidence will substantially
assist the trier of fact to determine a fact in issue and
whether the facts and data underlying the evidence
indicate a lack of trustworthiness.  The rules together
necessarily require a determination as to the scientific
validity or reliability of the evidence.  Simply put, unless
the scientific evidence is valid, it will not substantially
assist the trier of fact, nor will its underlying facts and
data appear to be trustworthy, but there is no
requirement in the rule that it be generally accepted.

Although we do not expressly adopt Daubert, the
non-exclusive list of factors to determine reliability are
useful in applying our Rules 702 and 703.  A Tennessee
trial court may consider in determining reliability:  (1)
whether scientific evidence has been tested and the
methodology with which it has been tested;  (2) whether
the evidence has been subjected to peer review or
publication;  (3) whether a potential rate of error is
known;  (4) whether, as formerly required by Frye, the
evidence is generally accepted in the scientific
community;  and (5) whether the expert's research in the
field has been conducted independent of litigation.

Although the trial court must analyze the science
and not merely the qualifications, demeanor or
conclusions of experts, the court need not weigh or
choose between two legitimate but conflicting scientific
views.  The court instead must assure itself that the
opinions are based on relevant scientific methods,
processes, and data, and not upon an expert's mere
speculation.

McDaniel, 955 S.W.2d at 265.



18We note that in his report, Dr. Merikangas stated that he had relied upon the

neuropsychological testing performed by defense expert Dr. Walker to reach his diagnosis, which

was  ironic ally, alm ost identic al to the tes ting done  by Dr.  Mar tell.
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The decision to admit scientific evidence is within the discretion of the trial

court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.  Begley, 956 S.W.2d

at 475.  We find that the psychological tests in question were relevant to a

determination of the appellant’s competency to be executed.  Furthermore, Dr.

Martell was clearly qualified to administer this battery of tests and form an opinion as

to the significance of the results of those tests.  In addition, these types of

standardized tests have long been recognized as scientifically valid and reliable, thus

meeting the requirements outlined in McDaniel, and Van Tran.  See, e.g., State v.

Blanton, 975 S.W.2d 269, 278 (Tenn. 1998); State v. Payne, 792 S.W.2d 10, 17

(Tenn. 1990).  Indeed, the reliability of these tests is further illustrated by the fact that

the appellant’s rebuttal expert witness, Dr. Walker, had administered almost exactly

the same battery of tests as those administered by Dr. Martell.

That is not to say that the fact these tests have not been tested for their

reliability in the death row population is wholly irrelevant.  Indeed, at the competency

hearing the appellant presented the testimony of Dr. Merikangas, who disputed

whether the tests Dr. Martell administered could be used to support a finding of

malingering because they had not been subjected to peer review or evaluated for

validity in the context of determining malingering in the death row population.18  In

light of the conflicting scientific views between Dr. Martell and Dr. Merikangas, the

critical inquiry here is not the admissibility, but the weight to be given to Dr. Martell’s

testimony.  As we noted in McDaniel, “the weight to be given to stated scientific

theories, and the resolution of legitimate but competing scientif ic views, are matters
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appropriately entrusted to the trier of fact.”   In this instance, the trial court gave this

evidence of malingering little, if any, weight, choosing instead to focus on the critical

inquiry mandated by Van Tran, whether “the prisoner lacks the mental capacity to

understand the fact of the impending execution and the reason for it.”  Van Tran, 6

S.W.3d at 266.  We find no abuse of discretion in allowing testimony concerning this

psychological testing into evidence and hold that its admission did not violate due

process.

Denial of Continuance - Rebuttal Proof

At the end of the presentation of his rebuttal proof, the appellant moved for a

continuance to allow him to obtain additional rebuttal proof.  The appellant pointed

out that the State’s experts had been able to remain in the courtroom when the

appellant’s behavior became disruptive and were able to testify about the appellant’s

conduct.  The appellant suggested that his experts had not been able to remain in the

courtroom because of the demands of their private practice of psychiatry.  The

appellant therefore requested a continuance to allow his appointed experts to review

the media videotapes of the hearing, which reflected the appellant’s disruptive

behavior.  After they reviewed the tapes, the appellant intended to call the experts

and allow them to provide testimony about their assessments of the appellant’s



19Both the State and the appellant asked the trial court to order the media to turn over

cop ies of  any vid eota pes  of the  com pete ncy pr oceeding  so the vide otap es could b e m ade  Exh ibit

15 to the record on appeal to enable this Court to review the appellant’s behavior during the

hearing . The trial co urt grante d the joint m otion.  How ever, wh en the re cord wa s initially filed with

this Court, not all of the media videotapes were included, and the appellant made a motion asking

this C ourt to  orde r that t he re cord  be su pplem ente d with  the re ma ining m edia v ideotapes.  Th is

Court denied the motion in a summary order. Thereafter, the Clerk of the Appellate Court received

from  the trial court th e additiona l videotape s that initially had be en m issing from  Exhibit 15. 

How ever , this C ourt h as no t revie wed  the vid eota pes  beca use  Ten nessee  Sup rem e Co urt R ule

30(I ) specifically states: “None of the film, videotape, still photographs, or audio recordings of

proc eed ings  unde r this R ule sh all be a dm issib le as e viden ce in t he pr oceeding  out o f whic h it

arose, any proceedings subsequent and collateral thereto, or upon any retrial or appeal of such

proceeding.”  In other words, as a matter of law, the videotapes have never been properly a part of

the record of this proceeding, despite the agreement of the State and the acquiescence of the trial

court.
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behavior.19  The trial court denied the appellant’s motion for a continuance, and the

appellant asserts that the trial court’s ruling deprived him of his right to a

fundamentally fair proceeding in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

As previously stated, a trial court’s denial of a motion for continuance will be

reversed only upon a showing of abuse of discretion.  Cazes, 875 S.W.2d at 261.

The appellant has failed to demonstrate how the trial court abused its discretion in

this case.  Any need for a continuance was largely caused by the appellant’s failure

to ask his expert witnesses to adjust their schedules so that they would be able to

remain in the courtroom during the presentation of the proof.  The trial court did not

abuse its discretion in denying the appellant’s motion.

Moreover, the trial court’s ruling did not deny the appellant his right to due

process.  The trial court did not deny the appellant an opportunity to present rebuttal

proof on this issue.  In fact, the record reflects that Dr. Merikangas was present in the

courtroom during at least part of the time that the appellant was engaging in

disruptive conduct.  Indeed,  Dr. Merikangas was called to make an offer of proof
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about the detrimental medical effects that possibly could result if the trial court used

a gag to restrain the appellant.  At no point while Dr. Merikangas was testifying about

the potential medical risks did the appellant’s counsel attempt to elicit testimony from

Dr. Merikangas about his assessment of the appellant’s disruptive conduct.  The trial

court certainly did not foreclose such questioning as is evidenced by the appellant’s

questioning of Dr. Walker about his assessment of the appellant’s disruptive

courtroom behavior and whether that behavior was consistent with malingering.  The

trial court allowed this questioning and Dr. Walker’s testimony even though Dr.

Walker had obtained his information about the nature of the appellant’s disruptive

behavior from television and newspaper accounts of the hearing.   A review of the

record indicates that the appellant’s claim that his due process rights were violated

by the trial court’s refusal to grant his motion for a continuance is without merit.

Denial of Adversarial Hearing

Finally, the appellant complains that he was denied his due process right to

an adversarial hearing when the trial judge “took it upon himself to gather the

evidence for his determination of the facts.”  The appellant argues that Ford and Van

Tran require that the competency proceeding be conducted in accordance with the

“adversary process” which requires that the finder of fact consider only the proof

presented to it by the parties.  The appellant says that the trial court in this case

employed an “inquisitorial” system under which the court is responsible for eliciting

the facts.  In support of this argument, the appellant points to the following comments

made by the trial court:

This Court is certainly going to follow the rules of evidence in this case.
But, I want you lawyers to know that the main objective of the Court is
to find out what it needs to find out to make an honest and
straightforward ruling.  And to do that, I’m going to try to get as much
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information as I can.  I’m the finder of fact and law in this case.  And
we’re not in a trial.  We’re not in–I think at this point in this case, in this
hearing, that this Court is going to be put in a position where I’m going
to allow much latitude about all the information that I’m going to
receive.  In other words, I want everything I can get in my hands to look
at before I make a determination on this.  And the point I’m trying to
make is, I don’t want anything hidden from the Court by either side.
And I’m not suggesting that.  I’m just saying that many times in trials,
there’s certain things that are not legally admissible.  And sometimes
there are things that the Court needs to look at, in this type case, that
might be legally admissible and might not.  And I don’t know whether
I’m getting – making myself clear to you folks, or not.  But what I’m
trying to say is, I want everything to look at, if I can, on this.  Every
possible thing that we can get.  And I’m looking at discovery in a
situation where, certainly, you lawyers have to be advocates.  But this
Court, as a finder of fact, has to have that discovery itself,  to look at in
this particular situation.

We disagree with the appellant’s contention.  In our view, these comments

illustrate that the trial court had a clear understanding of the purpose and nature of

the competency to be executed proceeding.  In fact, it is the appellant who has

consistently misconstrued the nature of the proceeding and attempted to attach to it

the full panoply of trial rights.  Contrary to the appellant’s argument, there is no

language in Ford or Van Tran requiring the “adversary process.”  Instead, both those

decisions require that the hearing be “adversarial” in nature.  In other words, both the

State and the prisoner must be given an opportunity to present proof and argument

relevant to the issue of competency as well as an opportunity to challenge the proof

presented by the other side.

The use of the term “adversarial” in Ford can be correctly understood only by

remembering that the Court in Ford was considering the Florida procedure for

determining competency, a procedure which had completely precluded any prisoner

participation in the competency determination.  Read in context, the term

“adversarial” was used in Ford to mean that the prisoner must be allowed to
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participate in the competency determination.  In fact, contrary to the appellant’s

argument, the plurality opinion in Ford cites, as a potentially satisfactory procedure

for determining competency to be executed, the “inquests” that are used to determine

whether the defendant is competent to stand trial and whether a person should be

involuntarily committed.  See 477 U.S. at 417 n.4, 106 S. Ct at 2605 n.4.  Clearly,

Justice Powell believed that “ordinary adversarial procedures” were not necessary to

a valid determination of competency to be executed.  477 U.S. at 426, 106 S. Ct. at

2610.  Likewise, contrary to the appellant’s suggestion, Van Tran requires only that

the competency proceeding be adversarial in nature, affording to both the prisoner

and the State an opportunity to present evidence, to challenge and clarify opposing

evidence, and to be heard on the issue.

There is no question that the competency proceeding in this case was

conducted in an adversarial manner.  The appellant was afforded an opportunity to

present his own proof, challenge the State’s proof, and be heard on the issue.

Contrary to the appellant’s argument, the trial court in this case should be

commended, not condemned, for attempting to review and consider all relevant

information before making a final determination of the issue.  See Weeks, 52 F.3d

at 1561-62 (expressing admiration for the trial court’s “active intervention” in

questioning the prisoner directly to assist the trial court in making the competency

determination).  The purpose of a competency proceeding is to accurately determine

the issue.  Where as here the prisoner is given the opportunity to review, challenge,

and rebut all the information considered by the trial court, there is no due process

violation of the right to have the proceeding conducted in an adversarial manner.

This issue is without merit.
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V.

CONCLUSION

Having carefully reviewed de novo each of the legal claims raised by the

appellant, a majority of this Court concludes that none have merit.  In addition, each

member of this Court has thoroughly reviewed the record in this appeal and a

majority concludes that the evidence fully supports and does not preponderate

against the trial court’s finding that the appellant is presently competent to be

executed.  Accordingly, we affirm the decision of the trial court.

This opinion is not subject to rehearing under Tennessee Rule of Appellate

Procedure 39, and the Clerk is directed to certify this opinion as final and immediately

issue the mandate.  As provided by this Court’s order of December 15, 1999, the

Warden of the Riverbend Maximum Security Institution, or his designee, shall carry

out the appellant’s execution in accordance with Tennessee law on the 23rd day of

March, 2000, unless a stay is entered by this Court or by a federal court.  Counsel for

Robert Glen Coe shall provide to the Office of the Appellate Court Clerk in Nashville

a copy of any order staying this execution.  The Clerk shall expeditiously furnish a

copy of any stay order to the Warden of the Riverbend Maximum Security Institution.

_____________________________________
FRANK F. DROWOTA, III,
JUSTICE

Concurring:
Anderson, C.J.
Holder and Barker, JJ.

Dissenting:
Birch J., filed a separate dissenting opinion. 


